Eckington Civic Association Bylaws (As Amended Jan. 11, 2021)

Article I: The Eckington Civic Association

- Section 1: The name of the Association is the Eckington Civic Association, Inc (ECA).
- Section 2: The purpose of the Association is to promote the civic welfare (to include, but not be limited to, social, economic, environmental, public safety, quality of life, and heritage issues/concerns) within the District of Columbia and especially within the vicinity of Eckington.
- Section 3: For the purposes of these bylaws, "Eckington" means the area bound by Rhode Island Avenue NE to the north; the WMATA Red Line Metro tracks to the east; Florida Avenue NE to the south; and North Capitol Street to the west.
- Section 4: The fiscal year of the Association shall commence in January and shall end at the conclusion of business of the annual election meeting in December.

Article II: Membership and Participation

- Section 1: Definition of Categories of Membership. There shall be categories of membership known as Resident Individual Non-Resident, and Organizational Resident.
 - (a) Resident Member: Any person, 18 years of age or older, residing within the territorial lines described in Article I, Section 3 shall be eligible to have membership in the Association;
 - (b) Individual Non-Resident Member: Any individual person wishing to become a member of the Association who does not reside within the boundaries described in Chapter I, Article I, Section 3, but who has property and/or civic interests within the territory aforementioned.
 - (c) Organizational Resident Member: Any business or not-for-profit located within the boundaries described in Chapter 1, Article 1, Section 3.
- Section 2: Requirements and privileges for Resident Membership.
 - (a) To become a Resident Member of the Association, a person must provide the Association with up-to-date contact information and attest that they reside in Eckington. The Association shall ask members to renew their membership by confirming the residency and contact information on an annual basis and meeting any dues requirements.
 - (b) A Resident Member is entitled to:
 - Participate in all activities of the Association, including voting on Association matters;

- ii. seek and hold office, provided his/her membership has been in effect for at least 30 days prior to the meeting at which an election for officers is held:
- iii. serve on a Committee
- iv. Suggest an item for inclusion on the Association's agenda by emailing eckingtoncivic@gmail.com
- Section 3: Requirements and Privileges of for Non-Resident Members and Organizational Resident Members.
 - (a) To become an Individual Non-Resident Member of the Association, a person must provide the Association with up-to-date contact information and attest that they have property, or civic interests in Eckington. The Association shall ask members to renew their membership by confirming the contact information and interests on an annual basis and meeting any dues requirements.
 - (b) To become an Organizational Resident Member of the Association, an organization must provide the Association with contact information for a primary representative and information on the organization's location.
 - (c) A Non-Resident Member and Organizational Resident is entitled to:
 - i. Serve on a Committee
 - ii. Suggest an item for inclusion on the Association's agenda by emailing eckingtoncivic@gmail.com
- Section 4: Dues. The Executive Committee shall establish annual dues or a suggested financial donation or time contribution in lieu of dues, annually.
 - (a) Annual Resident Member and Non-Resident Member dues shall not exceed \$10.
 - (b) Organizational Member dues may be differentiated to account for individual, non-profits or other organizations, small business, and other business levels.
- Section 5: Expiration of Membership. Resident membership shall expire upon request, upon termination of a Resident member's residency in Eckington, or after a Resident member's failure to annually confirm their residency and contact information. Non-Resident membership shall expire upon request, upon termination of the Non-Resident's business or civic interest in Eckington, or after failure to annually renew membership.
- Section 6: Suspension and Expulsion. A Member may be expelled for violent, disorderly, or other improper conduct at the recommendation of the Executive Committee and by a two-thirds majority of members present. An individual who has been expelled by the Association cannot rejoin the Association without the approval of a simple majority vote of members present. Any member displaying violent, disorderly, or other improper conduct in non-meeting fora, such as but not limited to ECA listserv or social media, may be temporarily suspended at the recommendation of the Executive Committee. A vote on further action will be taken at a subsequent ECA meeting and subject to the criteria above.

Section 7: Non-Member Participants. Defined as any non-member, regardless of age or residency, Non-Member Participants may observe ECA business, liaise with ECA, or provide requested information to ECA at any public ECA event.

Article III: Meetings and Resolutions

- Section 1: The President shall set the agenda for meetings of the Association with the input of the Executive Committee. The President or a designated member of the Executive Committee shall preside over a meeting.
- Section 2: The President and the Executive Committee shall seek the input of Members on matters impacting Eckington or the Association at regularly scheduled meetings. Where appropriate, that input shall include a vote on a resolution.
- Section 3: A resolution adopted by the Association shall be binding on the Officers of the Association unless it is mooted by events or superseded by a subsequent action of the Association.
- Section 4: A regular meeting day and time shall be established by the Executive Committee at the commencement of the fiscal year. The time and place of each meeting shall be announced to the membership via the Eckington listserv in Google Groups.
- Section 5: A special meeting of the Association may be convened either:
 - (a) By the President, with the approval of the Executive Committee;
 - (b) By written petition of not less than 15 active members of the Association.
- Section 6: Written notice of the time and place of a special meeting and of the business to be transacted shall be announced via the Eckington listserv in Google Groups no less than seven days prior to the meeting. No business that is not so noticed may be transacted at a special meeting.
- Section 7: A quorum of 10 resident members or one-third of the resident membership, whichever is less, shall be required for the Association to formally approve or disapprove a matter.
- Section 8: The practice of the Association is to allow open debate on a matter as time permits; however, the President (or other presiding officer) may call the question in his or her discretion. If a Member objects to the calling of the question, the Association shall immediately come to a vote on whether to end debate.
- Section 9: Voting matters, including to end debate, shall be resolved by majority vote of resident members present.

- Section 10: With the unanimous consent of resident members present, the presiding officer can ask the Association to proceed on a voice vote.
- Section 11: Amendments to these By-Laws shall be noticed at least seven days in advance of a vote and shall require a two-thirds majority vote of resident members present.

Article IV - Officers and Organization

- Section 1: The elected officers of the Association shall consist of: one President, between one and four Vice-Presidents, a Communications Director, and a Treasurer. The term of office for an elected position shall be one year, beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31.
- Section 2: The elected officers of the Association shall serve as the Executive Committee.
- Section 3: Should the office of any officer of the Executive Committee become vacant by death, inability to serve, or resignation, at a date not more than three months prior to the general election, the Executive Committee shall have authority, in its discretion, to fill such vacancy for the period remaining until the annual election, unless otherwise designated in these Bylaws. All other vacancies may be filled for the unexpired term of an officer by an election which shall be held at the next regularly scheduled meeting. Sufficient notice shall be given to afford every opportunity for the entire membership to participate in the upcoming election.
- Section 4: The President's Duties. The President serves as the convener of the association and presides over all ECA meetings.
 - (a) The President, with the input of the Executive Committee, set the agenda for meetings of the Association.
 - (b) The President, with the assistance of the Executive Committee, shall contact and coordinate speaker and guests at Association meetings.
 - (c) The President shall prepare final Association meeting agendas and forward to the Communications Director for posting on the Eckington listserv.
 - (d) The President or a designee shall attend ANC meetings when requested.
 - (e) The President, with the input of the Executive Committee, may deputize Vice Presidents to take primary responsibility for policy areas (e.g. public safety, development, public spaces, etc.).
 - (f) The President shall participate in the Civic Association's spending decisions.
 - (g) The President shall provide for the continuity of the Association and the orderly transition to his or her successor.
 - (h) The President shall serve as an ex officio member of all committees.

- (i) The President, with the input of the Executive Committee, shall appoint committee chairs and members.
- (j) The President shall, with the input of the Executive Committee, develop policy statements, guidelines and procedures for the efficient operation and administration of the Association;
- (k) The President shall:
 - (1) Co-sign all checks or other papers requiring the payment of money;
 - (2) Sign or co-sign all agreements, documents, instruments, and matters that require the attest of the Association;

Section 7: Vice-Presidential Duties.

- (a) A Vice President may accept and assume responsibilities designated by the President.
- (b) A Vice President shall assist the President in contacting and coordinating guest speakers for all Association meetings.
- (c) A Vice President may participate in the Association's spending decisions.
- (d) A Vice President shall assist the President in providing for the continuity of the Association.
- (e) With the approval of the President, a Vice President may serve as a representative of the Civic Association at public hearings, ANC meetings, and other events.
- (f) A Vice President may perform such other duties as the President may request.

Section 8: The Communications Director's Duties.

- (a) The Communications Director is responsible for the recording and preparation of the minutes of all Civic Association meetings and for the email distribution of copies of the minutes to all other officers of the Eckington Civic Association for approval.
- (b) The Communications Director shall post the Civic Association agenda for all meetings on the Eckington listserv at least three days in advance of each meeting.
- (c) The Communications Director shall post the minutes of Association meetings to the Eckington listserv within seven days of a meeting.

- (d) The Communications Director is responsible for maintaining records of all activities of the Association and serves as a central depository of copies of minutes and reports generated by the Association.
- (e) The Communications Director may be responsible for drafting Association correspondence for ECA approval, i.e., letters of support/opposition, letters requesting information, etc.
- (f) The Communications Director shall participate in Civic Association's spending decisions.
- (g) The Communications Director may perform such other duties as the President may request.

Section 9: The Treasurer.

- (a) General Duties -
 - (1) The Treasurer shall participate in Civic Association's spending decisions.
 - (2) The Treasurer shall maintain the Association's account(s) on a calendar year basis, beginning January 1st and ending December 31st.
 - (3) The Treasurer shall prepare a check for all ECA-authorized expenditures.
 - (4) The Treasurer and the President's signature shall be required on every draft or order drawn on the bank depository.
 - (5) The Treasurer may perform such other duties as the President may request.
- (b) Special Duties The Treasurer shall:
 - (1) Have the custody of its money and maintain a proper set of books of account.
 - (2) Maintain a checking account in the name of the Association, in a bank approved by the Executive Committee, and shall personally co-sign all checks or other papers requiring the payment of money.
 - (3) Make all disbursements by check, under such requirements as shall be determined by the Executive Committee.
 - (4) Perform all duties required by these Bylaws and other duties that are properly assigned by the Executive Committee.
 - (5) Sign all instruments of the Association whereupon the Treasurer's signature or co-signature is required by the United States or District of Columbia law or by these Bylaws.

Section 10: The Executive Committee

- (a) General Function The Executive Committee shall manage, direct, control and administer the property, affairs and business of the Association and shall be and act as the custodian of its properties and interests, except such thereof as are placed in the custody and/or the administration of the Treasurer by the provisions of these Bylaws.
- (b) Duties The Executive Committee shall carry out all general policies and instructions that shall have been adopted at any meeting of the Association and, subject to such general policies and such instructions, shall act for and in behalf of the Association in all matters within its jurisdiction and do all things required and permitted by these Bylaws to carry out and press forward the objects and interests of the Association.
- (c) Special Duties Subject in each instance to the condition fixed in these Bylaws, the Executive Committee shall or may perform the following duties:
 - (1) Rules and Regulations Establish and adopt rules and regulations supplementing these Bylaws, to govern the use of the property, name, affairs, meetings, and business of the Association.
 - (2) Meetings Approve or fix the time of each meeting of the Association and the place for holding it, if such shall not have been fixed by the Association; and shall approve or fix the time and place of the meetings of its own.
 - (3) Funds and Gifts Establish funds and accept gifts, bequests, and devises for and in behalf of the Association, under the conditions fixed in these Bylaws.
 - (4) Presidential Appointments Approve the President's appointments of committee chairs.
 - (5) President's Council Provide advice and counsel to the President in the development of annual programs and other official activities of the Association.
 - (6) Removal of Officers of Appointees After one week's notice to the person concerned, who shall be accorded the full privilege of a hearing before the Executive Committee, the Executive Committee, by written ballot, may remove any member of the Executive Committee or any member of any committee of the Association for refusal, neglect, or failure to perform the duties of his office or position. At least three votes in favor of such removal shall be required to make the same effective. The vacancy thus created shall be filled as provided by these Bylaws.
- (d) Quorum A quorum shall be necessary to transact any business of the Executive Committee. Not less than three shall constitute a quorum. In the absence of a quorum, those present may adjourn the meeting from day to day, or to a later date.

(e) Decisions - Every decision of the Executive Committee shall be by a majority of those present unless otherwise required by the Bylaws.

Article V: Nominations and Elections

- Section 1: On or before the fifteenth day of September of each year, the Executive Committee shall publicize the December elections and solicit nominations from resident members via the Eckington Listserv, email, and monthly meetings.
- Section 2: The election of officers and members of the Executive Committee shall be held at the regularly scheduled meeting in December.
 - (a) The voting shall be by secret ballot. If there be but one candidate for any office or vacancy in the Executive Committee, however, the Association to cast one ballot for the full number of votes of the meeting for the nominee, whereupon the President shall declare him elected by acclamation.
 - (b) In elections for President, Treasurer, and Communications Director, the nominee receiving a majority (or plurality) of the votes shall be declared the winner.
 - (c) In elections for Vice President, if there are four or fewer candidates, all candidates who receive the support of a majority of the members present shall be elected. If there are more than four candidates, each member will be permitted to cast four ballots and the four candidates receiving the most votes shall be elected.
 - (d) In case of a tie, ballots shall be cast again, until the tie is broken.

Article VI: Committees

- Section 1: Committee Structure The committee structure of the Association shall be composed of standing, special and ad hoc committees.
- Section 2: Scope and Functions of Committees:
 - (a) Each of the Standing Committees shall consist of three or more members of the Association. The Chairperson and members shall be appointed annually by the President, with the approval of the Executive Committee.
 - (b) The period of service of each committee shall terminate with each annual meeting.
 - (c) All committee activities, duties and functions shall be under the administrative authority of the Association.
 - (d) Committees shall serve solely in an advisory capacity to the President, Executive Committee, and general body.

- (e) Committee representation of the Association to external bodies and organizations shall be conducted only by the approval and administrative authority of the President and the Executive Committee.
- (f) Committees shall not participate in or conduct activities reserved for the functions of the elected officers.

Article VIII: Officers Emeritus

Section 1: Purpose. Officers of the association have knowledge of the administrative, advocacy, and other aspects of the Associations work and a dedication to the mission of the Association that continue to be valuable to the Association after their term of office ends. The purpose of this Article is to enable the current President and Executive Committee to continue to involve former officers in the work of the Association where appropriate.

Section 2: Qualifications. With the approval of the President and the consent of a majority of the Executive Committee, an individual who served as an elected officer of the Association for at least two years may serve the Association in an "emeritus" capacity.

Section 3: Responsibilities. An officer emeritus assumes responsibilities at the request of the President and with the consent of the Executive Committee. Those responsibilities may include: temporarily fulfilling the duties of a vacant office until the office is filled at a special or regular election; participating in one or more meetings of the Executive Committee (as a non-voting member); representing the civic association in an official capacity; and hosting a fundraising or social event on behalf of the Association. An officer emeritus may also be particularly appropriate candidate to chair of a standing committee of the Association.

Section 4: Termination. A president may terminate the service of an officer emeritus at any time by giving written notice to that officer and the Executive Committee. Notice of the officer emeritus's termination shall be provided to the members of the civic association at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Association. An officer emeritus may resign at any time.

Article VIII: Dissolution

Section 1: The Association is organized exclusively for civic and charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Service Code. Upon the dissolution of the Association, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purpose within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Service Code, or shall be distributed to the District of Columbia Government for a public purpose.